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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT   
FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO 

 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Plaintiff, 

 
V. 
 

Sixto Jorge Diaz-Colon, 
Defendant. 

 

 
 
 
 
  CRIMINAL NO. 21-017 (FAB) 
 *FILED SELECTED PARTIES* 
 
 
 
  

GOVERNMENT’S MOTION REQUESTING AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE 
AS TO WHY DEFENDANT’S BOND SHOULD NOT BE REVOKED 

 
 On January 29, 2021, the Court issued an Order enjoining the parties “. . . from 

divulging, talking to, or discussing with, the press, media and public, including without 

limitation, through social networks, any information other than that entered without 

restriction on the docket or disclosed in open court, relating to the facts of the 

captioned case ….”  Dkt. No. 10.  On February 12, 2021, the Court issued a protective 

Order barring actions by the Defendant disclose, directly or indirectly, Discovery 

Material or the substance thereof to anyone, including the media (excepting any 

disclosures that may occur during public proceedings at a hearing, trial, or appeal in 

connection with this matter) . . ..”  Dkt. No. 20.  For the second time, Defendant has 

openly violated both of these Orders.  The Government hereby moves for an order to 

show cause why the defendant should not be held in contempt of court for his willful 

conduct and moves for a revocation of the defendant’s bond and remand to the custody 

of the United States Marshals Service. 
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DISCUSSION 

On January 27, 2021, Sixto Jorge Diaz Colon was arrested pursuant to an 

Indictment charging him with violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2, 

875(d), 1519, and 1951.  The charges in the Indictment reference events taking place 

in Puerto Rico that garnered significant media exposure during the summer of 2019.  

Some of the evidence that will be introduced in this case at trial concern the attempted 

manipulation of public opinion through the use of media influencing.  In order to 

protect the rights of all parties, including the rights of the Defendant, and to preserve 

the integrity of all future proceedings, the Government requested that the Court issue 

a Gag Order.  See Dkt. No. 8 (Gov’t Mot. to Restrict).   

Without objection from the defense, on January 29, 2021, the Court issued the 

requested Order.  See Dkt. No. 10.  The Order read in pertinent part: 

As a cautionary measure to protect the rights of all parties and preserve 
the integrity of all future proceedings, the following individuals are 
hereby enjoined from divulging, talking to, or discussing with, the press, 
media and public, including without limitation, through social networks, 
any information other than that entered without restriction on the docket 
or disclosed in open court, relating to the facts of the captioned case … 
 
The parties may seek relief under seal for good cause shown. This Order 
should not be interpreted to preclude government or defense investigative 
efforts and is not intended to prevent the press and media to report, opine, 
and inform about the case.  Nor will it operate to automatically close 
proceedings or block access to public portions of the record. 
 
This Order will be in full force from the date of its execution until the 
conclusion of trial. Violations to the terms of this Order will be met with 
economic sanctions, including but not limited to contempt of a clear 
court order. 
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 On February 12, 2021, the Court issued a protective order applicable to 

discoverable material.  Dkt. No. 20.  This Order provided that “[i]n no event will the 

Defense Team disclose, directly or indirectly, Discovery Material or the substance 

thereof to anyone, including the media (excepting any disclosures that may occur 

during public proceedings at a hearing, trial, or appeal in connection with this matter), 

except as provided herein . . . [v]iolations of this Order may be punishable by contempt 

of court, or by whatever other sanctions the court shall deem just.”  Id.  

 On or about March 9, 2021, the following social media posting was published 

at https://www.facebook.com/sixtojorgeradiotv/posts/4253058938087606:1 

 
1 Investigators believe that this Facebook account belongs to the Defendant.  The 
original post was in the Spanish language.  It has been translated.   

https://www.facebook.com/sixtojorgeradiotv/posts/4253058938087606
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 The Government brought the Defendant’s conduct to the Court’s attention as a 

potential violation of the Defendant’s January 2021 Order.  See Dkt. No. 25 (Gov’t 

Mot. for an Order to Show Cause).  After due consideration, the Court warned  the 

Defendant’s involvement in similar conduct in the future would result in contempt of 

court. Dkt. No. 30 (Order Grant. Mot. to Restrict). 

  Now, for the second time, the Defendant has chosen to violate the Court’s 

January 29, 2021, and February 12, 2021 Orders by giving an interview to a reporter 

for the television program, “Jugando Pelota Dura,” which included numerous 

statements by the Defendant about this case.  These statements were broadcast on June 
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21, 2022, and transmitted through multiple forums, including television channel 

“Teleonce” and the social media platform Facebook.2   

During the program, the reporter specified that Defendant set the time and place 

of the interview, and that the interview would be broadcast in two sections on June 21 

and 22, 2022.  During the portions of the interview broadcast on June 21, 2022,3 the 

Defendant made a number of statements, including: 

a. a statement in response to the interviewing reporter’s question as 
to whether he had said that he had information that Raul 
Maldonado had the chats and for $300,000.00, the defendant 
would intercede; the Defendant said that was a total lie and at trial 
that [lie] would be seen; 
 

b. statements in response to questions posed by the reporter as to 
whether La Comay (a puppet used by a well-known political 
commentator in Puerto Rico, Kobbo Santarosa) would be given 
$50,000 to speak favorably about Ricardo Rossello; the defendant 
stated “didn’t I just tell you that is a lie”; 

 
c. the Defendant claimed that he could not talk about the case 

because of a gag order but that the Court’s order could not 
supplant his dignity and reputation; 

 
d. the Defendant claimed that in February 2020, he had a contract 

with Ricardo Rossello and that in October of 2020, he traveled to 
Los Angeles, California to discuss with lawyers for a famous 
content distributing company a series of documentaries regarding 
the summer of 2019, because of that contract with Ricardo 
Rossello; and  

 

 
2 On June 16, 2022, the Court admonished the Defendant’s counsel for making 
unfounded claims of government wrongdoing.  See Dkt. No. 127 (Op. and Or. Den. 
Def. Mot. to Dismiss).  
3 A preliminary transcript of the June 21, 2022 interview is attached as Attachment .  
Several screenshots and translation of content posted to the Defendant’s Facebook  
account on June 18, 2022 have been included in Attachment B.  
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e. statements by the Defendant that he could not remain silent in 
light of the lies, politics, and evil of the San Juan Federal Bureau 
of Investigation. 

 
The context of this interview appears to be in reaction to the Court’s Opinion 

and Order of June 16, 2022. See Dkt. No. 127.  However, the Defendant’s statements 

are not about information entered without restriction on the docket or disclosed in 

open court, relating to the facts of the case.  In fact, the Defendant’s own statements 

demonstrate his understanding of the restrictions on his communications mandated 

by the Court’s January 29, 2022 Order.  Nonetheless, the defendant knowingly and 

willfully chose to disregard those restrictions and represent clear violations of the 

Court’s two orders in this matter.   

The Defendant’s statements represent an attempt to influence public opinion 

and litigate this case in the media through claims that the Government’s 

representatives are liars, politicized, and evil.  The Defendant also discussed the 

involvement of an individual not identified in the Opinion and Order of June 16, 

2022.  Moreover, the Defendant also discussed an alleged contract with Ricardo 

Rossello and claimed that certain allegations of the instant matter based on lies. 

Finally, he acknowledged the Court’s January 29, 2021 Order, but qualified its 

applicability to him.   

The Defendant’s conduct demonstrates a repeated, willful, and blatant 

disregard for the Court’s authority and the restrictions ordered in this case to protect 

the integrity of proceedings.  The Defendant should be ordered to show cause why the 
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Court should not hold him in contempt and why his bond not be revoked for a second 

violation of the Court’s January 29 and February 12, 2021 Orders.   

WHEREFORE, the Government requests that Defendant be summoned to 

court for the already scheduled hearing of June 23, 2022, to show cause as to why he 

should not be held in contempt of court and his bond should not be revoked.  

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED. 

In San Juan, Puerto Rico, this 22nd Day of June, 2022. 

 
 W. STEPHEN MULDROW 

United States Attorney 
 
s/Myriam Y. Fernandez-Gonzalez              
Myriam Y. Fernandez-Gonzalez - 218011 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
Torre Chardón, Suite 1201,  
350 Carlos Chardón Street 
San Juan, Puerto Rico 00918 
Office: 787-766-5656  
email: myriam.y.fernandez@usdoj.gov 
 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 22nd of June, 2022, I electronically filed the 

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system which will send a 

copy to the attorney of record. 

 

s/ Myriam Y. Fernandez-Gonzalez         
Myriam Y. Fernandez-Gonzalez 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
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Participants:  

SJDC 
MA 

Sixto Jorge Díaz Colón, AKA Sixto George 
Margarita Aponte  

 
Abbreviations: 

[] 
 

Exegesis 
 

[OV] Overlapping voices 

  
Primary language 
 

Spanish (standard font Times New Roman 12) 
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 [segmento de 33:00 a 33:28]  [segment from 33:00 to 33:28] 
    
MA: Sixto George sí dijo, “Mira, tengo 

información de que el chat está en 
manos de Raúl Maldonado y si me 
dan 300,000 pesos, entonces yo lo 
detengo”. 

 Sixto George did say, “Look, I have 
information that the chat is in Raúl 
Maldonado’s hands and if you give me 
300,000 bucks, then I will stop it.” 

    
SJDC: Eso es totalmente mentira, y en el 

juicio se va a ver.  
 That is a complete lie, and it will be seen in 

the trial.  
    
MA: Los 50,000 para que La Comay--   The 50,000 for La Comay to-- 
    
SJDC: [OV] Te acabo--   [OV] I just-- 
    
MA: --hablara a favor de Ricardo Rosselló, 

¿eso. . . eso fue cierto? 
 --talk in favor of Ricardo Rosselló, was that 

. . . was that true? 
    
SJDC: Te acabo de decir que eso es mentira.  I just told you that is a lie.  
    
 [fin del segmento]  [end of segment] 
    
 [segmento de 33:50 a 34:02]  [segment from 33:50 to 34:02] 
    
SJDC: Yo tengo una ley de mordaza. Yo no 

puedo hablar nada sobre el caso. Pero 
yo no puedo poner por encima de mi 
de-dignidad y mi reput-mi reputación 
una ley de mordaza.  

 I have a gag order. I cannot talk about the 
case at all. But I cannot put a gag order 
above my dig-dignity and my reput-my 
reputation. 

    
 [fin del segmento]  [end of segment] 
    
 [segmento de 34:18 a 35:00]  [segment from 34:18 to 35:00] 
    
SJDC: Sixto George, en febrero del 2020, 

siete meses después del verano del 
2019, tiene un contrato— Tu 

 Sixto George, in February of 2020, seven 
months after the summer of 2019, has a 
contract— Your production has it— Has a 
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producción la tiene— Tiene un 
contrato con Ricardo Rosselló. Yo fui 
en octubre, después de febrero, yo fui 
en oc--en octubre del 2020 a Los 
Ángeles, California, a visitar 
abogados de una casa famosa de 
distribución de contenido porque este 
que está aquí está firmado por el 
mismo Ricardo Rosselló para hacer 
una serie documental de todo lo que 
pasó el verano del 2019. Yo no me 
puedo seguir quedando callado frente 
a tanta mentira, politiquería y maldad 
del FBI de San Juan.  

contract with Ricardo Rosselló. I went in 
October, after February, I went in Oc--in 
October 2020 to Los Angeles, California, to 
visit lawyers from a famous content 
distribution company because this guy here 
is signed by Ricardo Rosselló himself to 
make a documentary series about everything 
that happened in the summer of 2019. I 
cannot continue to remain silent in the face 
of so many lies, politics, and evil from the 
San Juan FBI. 

    
 [fin del segmento]  [end of segment] 
    
 [fin de las porciones solicitadas]  [end of requested portions] 
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Abbreviations:  

[ ] 
 

Exegesis 
 

  

  
Primary language 
Secondary language 

Spanish (standard font Times New Roman 12) 
English (italics) 
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Sixto Jorge Diaz Colon 

12h - [time zone icon] 

Cheap press like Sandra Rodríguez Cotto and others, talking trash and arriving to conclusions 
with two percent of an over an hour-long conversation. Conveniently taking everything out of 
context. [emoji x14] 

FBI San Juan will be ashamed. Corrupt Agents and Prosecutors that need to demonize from lies, 
defamation and evilness. [emoji] 

Cases are not won on social media platforms! [emoji]  

Cases are won in the courts with evidence! 

Does the AUSA’s office have a solid case? Go for it, phonies! [emoji] 

I am ready for your evilness! In due time, everyone will see your lies and your trash gossip 
evidence! [emoji] [emoji] [emoji] [emoji]  

Michael Lang! 
María Fernández! 
Put on a wig and compete with La Comay! 
[emoji x13] 
 
Soon I will see your corrupt faces in court! [emoji] [emoji] 
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